
 

 
 

 

TOWN OF WELAKA 

REGULAR ZONING BOARD MEETING 

AGENDA 
 

November 16, 2023 at 6:00 PM  

Honorable Willie Washington, Jr. Town Council Room 

400 4th Ave., Welaka, FL 32193   

(This meeting will be broadcasted, for view only, on the Town of Welaka Facebook page) 

1. CALL TO ORDER: by Chairman David Jeltes 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. ROLL CALL: by Town Clerk, Meghan Allmon 

 - Chairman David Jeltes 

 - Lenore Toole 

 - Les Thomas 

 - Pamela Washington 

 - Jennifer Burres 

 - Town Attorney Patrick Kennedy 

4. APPROVAL OF CURRENT AGENDA 

5. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MINUTES: October 19, 2023 Meeting Minutes 

6. REQUEST TO SPEAK 

a. Melissa Clemons 

- Zoning Interpretation Request to allow a mobile food vendor in C-1 zoning 

7. NEW BUSINESS 

a. Andrew (AJ) Flateau, Outback Smoke Shack & Brewhouse 

- Rezoning Application & Conditional Use Permit Packet 

 

b. Chad Hutchinson, S&A Leisure & More, LLC 

- Rezoning Application & Conditional Use Permit Packet 

 

c. David Johnson, Shrimp R Us 

- New Tiki Bar Architectural Review 

8. OLD BUSINESS 

a. Review of the proposed Land Development Code 

 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT 

10. ADJOURN 



AGENDA ITEM # 5.  

 

 

October 19, 2023 Zoning Board Meeting Minutes 



  

Page 1 of 3 

 

TOWN OF WELAKA 

REGULAR ZONING BOARD MEETING 

October 19, 2023 @ 6:00 PM 

 

 Honorable Willie Washington, Jr. Council Room 

400 4th Avenue, Welaka FL 32193 

 

MINUTES 

 
(This meeting was broadcasted for view only on the Town of Welaka’s Facebook page) 

 

 

1. CALLED TO ORDER by Chairman David Jeltes at 6:00 PM 

 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

3. ROLL CALLED by Town Clerk, Meghan Allmon: 

Chairman David Jeltes - present; Lenore Toole - present; Les Thomas - present; Pamela 

Washington - present; Jennifer Burres - absent, and Town Attorney Patrick Kennedy - present. 

Four members are present, we have a quorum. 

 

4. APPROVAL OF CURRENT AGENDA: 

Motion Made by Thomas to accept the 10/19/23 Meeting Agenda and seconded by Toole. Passed 

4/0. 

5. APPROVAL OF PREVIOUS MINUTES:  

Corrections: Page 2 bottom, Kennedy read line a. in Section 2-4-05. It’s not stated clearly in the 

code. Same places go from the road. Can we say this from the property boundary line to the 

home? 

Kennedy – typo – should say “roof line” and not road line. 

Thomas – easier from the wall and not the roof line. 

Jeltes – should discuss in the meeting. 

 

Page 5 – Code Enforcement when a person makes a complaint. The county or the Town did not 

make it SB -60 form the state. It was not the county or the Town. Just clarifying, no corrections. 

 

County allows you to put a shed and there’s a $25 permit. Fill out a zoning application for 

review for the County. Is Welaka going to do the same thing? 

Kennedy – we can talk about that in the meeting and not during the correction of prior minutes. 

 

Motion Made by Thomas to accept the 9/21/23 Meeting Minutes with corrections and seconded 

by Washington. Passed 4/0. 

6. REQUEST TO SPEAK:   

 

a. Andrew (AJ) Flateau, Outback Smoke Shack & Brewhouse 

- Interpretation Request - Beer & wine included in restaurant use in the Zoning Code 

BB-Q guy here in Town. A few months ago, he looked into serving beer and wine at his 

restaurant. He did his research and the zoning requirements. The Town kicked it back and said he 



  

Page 2 of 3 

  

needed a Zoning Board approval letter. Town Attorney said he needed a zoning interpretation 

since the original 1983 ORD. C-1 allows for his restaurant. Previous owners have not sold it there 

and he wants to do it the right way. He loves Welaka and has been here over 30 years. Asking for 

the Zoning Board to consider this. Another restaurant here is zoned C-1 and they serve alcohol. 

He wants to better his business and what he pays in and feels like he loses business without it. 

Jeltes – is it true that another restaurant serves alcohol and is zoned as C-1? 

Kennedy – he will give the details when he researches it more. Shrimp R Us does not have a 

Conditional Use Permit and they serve alcohol. Told AJ he may need a Conditional Use Permit. If 

he wants to sell beer and wine as a restaurant owner, possibly the Zoning Board can look at this. 

The Town has been signing off on the annual license renewal for the past 15 years. It was not 

handled the way it should have been, and we cannot put the genie back in the bottle. 

Toole – new owners. Has the license been reviewed? 

Kennedy – we can’t shut it down since it’s been in business and is actively running. 

Toole – is this what we have to do and be non-conformant? Every restaurant that comes to Town 

will try this now. Is Shrimp’s grandfathered in? 

Kennedy – alcohol has always been treated differently than food sales. AJ is asking this since beer 

and wine is a typical rule. 

Thomas – there’s a 51% rule. 

Toole – she doesn’t see the restaurant category under C-1. 

Washington – it’s Number 24. In C-1, you cannot serve alcohol, If we give it to him, we have to 

give it to everyone. Shrimp’s went from a bait shop initially and nobody has caught it. 

AJ – Is C-1 accurate in today’s times since this was 40 years ago? He takes his kids to any place 

they frequently eat at, and there’s always beer and wine served. 

Washington – there’s probably a Conditional Use Permit at those other places. We don’t want to 

hinder them in any way. 

Thomas – what are your recommendations? Change the Rezoning designation or apply for the 

Conditional Use Permit? C-1 does not allow for it in C-1. 

Kennedy – Rezoning may be around $750 or so. 

Toole – the other places in Town that serve alcohol only serve food that is take-out. 

Kennedy – the surrounding area around AJ’s restaurant is all zoned C-1. 

Toole – if you want to sell your business, it may be perfectly legal. It would be to your benefit to 

do this. 

Thomas – how long would it take to rezone this? 

Kennedy – fill out the Rezoning and CUP application ASAP as the Zoning Board must review it 

before bring it to the Town Council. 

Michelle Bomba – told AJ that she will pay for it. 

Toole – can this be done prior to Christmas? 

Kennedy – the final approval would be in January. The Town Clerk needs enough time to 

advertise in the newspaper and notify the surrounding property owners via letters mailed. We 

need the applications completed by the middle of next week. 

Toole – if he puts in an application, can we get him a pending, provisional permit? 

Washington – no because the state license would need to say approved. 

Jeltes – the way things are written today, the language now a days is almost the same. 

Kennedy – this would be further down the road. 

Jelts – special permit would be needed. 

AJ – yes, we would do it. Would love to rezone and 3 months from now may be too long. We’re 

losing customers every day and if the banana pudding runs out, people want beer and wine. 

Washington – if you go to C2, it will help you and the property in the long run. We can fix this to 

help you. 

Kennedy – can email him the application. 

Michelle Bomba – will pay for this and help AJ with the application first thing in the morning. 



  

Page 3 of 3 

  

AJ – thanked the Zoning Board. 

 

b. Chad Hutchinson, S&A Leisure & More, LLC 

- Property zoning changes discussion 

Hutchinson - Zoning Board needs to modernize this code. They’ve been trying to sell mobile 

storage units. Would like to add a meat market to their place also. Willing to do the right thing 

and needs guidance. Meat Market may be covered under the current zoning as it used to be a 

grocery store.  

Kennedy – C-1 allows meat markets but with no slaughtering. Slaughtering is not listed in another 

place either. It’s an industrial zoning category that’s not used.  

Toole – see Number 13 under C-1, as long as no slaughtering is involved. 

Hutchinson – we are zoned as C-1 but everything around us is zoned as C-2. 

Kennedy – nothing was accidentally zoned back then as there were actual rezoning changes done 

in the past. If you want to re-zone to C-2, make sure it will fit your needs. 

Jeltes – C-2 may be the closest to accept the sheds. 

Hutchinson – they’ll gladly move through the process as needed. 

Toole – suggests rezoning to C-2 for the long term benefit. 

Kennedy – dual permit with an additional fee. 

Toole – sheds need to be placed towards the back and not along the front of the property. 

Kennedy – we don’t deal with slaughter houses, and as of right now it’s not allowed in Town. 

They can explore the options, if necessary. 

Hutchinson – very vague and very brief code.  

Toole – we’ve been reviewing and editing for weeks and weeks. 

Kennedy – the code is too specific. There are use categories and may give you room to fit into a 

category. 

Hutchinson – if he moves forward with the Rezoning Application and Conditional Use Permit, 

you’ll be fine with the sheds and meat market? 

Jeltes – yes. 

Washington – where will you be selling the meats at? 

Hutching – the landowners are deciding for the future. There’s another side of the building that 

was a pharmacy/storage building years ago. 

Washington – the building was a grocery store, and it was shut down years ago. Other things went 

in there. It's been with you now, and you’re doing what you’re doing.  

Kennedy – if an electric update or inspection is needed, that may be reviewed also. 

Hutchinson – can submit the application tomorrow. 

7. NEW BUSINESS: None. 

8. OLD BUSINESS:  

a. Review of the proposed Land Development Code 

Kennedy - Section 4 – the last meeting’s hand-out. Please look over this section. 

Town Clerk will email Section 4 to the Zoning Board. 

Allmon – agreed to email it them all tomorrow. 

9. PUBLIC COMMENT: None. 

10. ADJOURNED: 6:38 PM 



AGENDA ITEM # 7.a.  

 

Zoning Case #: R2023-01 / CUP2023-01 

 

Chad Hutchinson, S&A Leisure & More, LLC 

 

Rezoning Application & Conditional Use Permit Packet 















































5
8

0
 3

rd
 A

v
e

 
,J
;,/

>
, 

, 
J
 11

 $

�
 

.A.
 
\0

""
 

M
#

, 
✓

 
2-,

. ·
 

_
 

,.i
ii

 
W

 
·.:

·· 
t

m
 

1
1
/6

/2
0

2
3

, 
1
 :2

0
:3

9
 P

M
 

D
 S

u
b

d
iv

is
io

n
s

 
CJ

 P
a

rc
e

ls
 

S
tr

e
e

ts

-
L

o
c
a

l
D

im
e

n
s

io
n

s
 

L
o

ts
 

Q
t
r
,·�

 
V

ifMJ
 

l
•

V
' 

0
 

0
.0

1 

I 
,, 

I
 

I
 

0
 

0
.0

1 

1
 :1

,0
0

0
 

0
.0

1 
0

.0
3

m
i 

I
 

I
 

I
 I
 

I
 I

 
I

 I
 

I
 I

 
I

 I
 

0
.0

3
 

0
.0

5
 k

m
 

P
u

tn
a

m
 C

o
u

n
ty

, F
L

 

P
C

 G
IS

I 
P

u
tn

a
m

 C
o

u
n

ty
 G

IS
I 

P
C

 S
O

E
 I 

P
C

 E
9

11
 I

 P
C

G
IS

 I 
P

C
 P

D
S

, P
C

 G
IS

I 
P

C
P

A
, 

P
C

G
IS

 I 
P

C
P

A
 I 

P
u

tn
a

m
 C

o
u

n
ty

 P
ro

p
e

rt
y 

A
p

p
ra

is
e

r,
 P

u
tn

a
m

 C
ou

n
ty

 G
IS

I 















Town of Welaka 

400 4th Avenue 

Welaka, FL  32193 

(386) 467-9800 

 
 

 
*EXAMPLE OF LETTER MAILED OUT TO EVERYONE WITHIN 400 FEET OF PROPERTY 

 

October 25, 2023 

 

<Name> 

<Street Address> 

<City, State, Zip> 

 

 

RE: Notice of Zoning Board Hearing 

 

 

Hello, 

 

The Town of Welaka Zoning Board will hold a hearing on November 16, 2023, at 6:00 PM, to 

hear Case # R2023-01/CUP2023-01, concerning an application to rezone the property located at 

1300 County Road 309, Welaka, Florida (Parcel #33-11-26-0000-0120-0000) from C-1 to C-2, 

and a companion application for Conditional Use Permit to allow for portable storage building 

sales at this same location.   

 

These applications will be considered concurrently on November 16, 2023, starting at 6:00pm or 

as soon thereafter as it may be heard in the Town Council Meeting Room at Welaka Town Hall, 

located at 400 4th Avenue, Welaka, Florida. 

 

All interested people are invited to attend this meeting.  Any person wishing to appeal any 

decision made with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the 

proceedings and for such purpose may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings 

is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based 

(Florida Statutes §286.105). 

 

Persons with disabilities requiring accommodation to participate in this meeting should contact 

Town Hall at (386) 467-9800 or by writing to 400 4th Avenue, Welaka, Florida 32193 at least 24 

hours in advance to request accommodation. 

 

 

Very Best Regards, 

 

 

 

 

Meghan E. Allmon  

Town Clerk 

TownClerk@welaka-fl.gov  



The Law Offices of Patrick J Kennedy, PA 
PO Box 298  

Welaka, Florida 32193 
patrickjkennedypa@gmail.com 

Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 1 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Welaka Zoning Board 

From: Patrick Kennedy 

Date: November 6, 2023 

RE:  Proposed Rezoning and Conditional Use Permit for 580 3rd Ave 

The Property:   Parcel No.: 33-11-26-0000-0120-0000 
911 Address: 580 3rd Ave, Welaka, Florida 

Acreage:   5.11 Acres 

Location Map: 

mailto:patrickjkennedypa@gmail.com


 
Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 2 

The Parties:  Owner – Leslie Smith 
  Agent – Chad Hutchinson 
 
The Request: 
Rezone the Property from its current zoning of C-1 to C-2 and a companion request for a 
conditional use permit for the express purpose of being able to set up prefabricated shed displays 
in order to market these buildings for sale. 
 
Attachments: 
Rezoning Application and Conditional Use Permit Application  
Warranty Deed showing legal description of the property and verifying ownership. 
 
Surrounding Land Uses and Zoning: 
 
Direction Land Use Zoning Future Land Use 
North Multi-family residential  C-1 Commercial 
East Large lot residential (10 acres) AG(County) County AG 
South Vacant Commercial/Residential C-2/SR-1 Commercial/Res. Med. Density 
West Vacant/Residential C-1 Commercial 

 
Map Series: 
Aerial 

 



 
Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 3 

 
Future Land Use         Current Zoning: C-1 

  
 
 
Proposed Zoning: C-2 

 



 
Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 4 

 
Background 
 

The property under consideration for the proposed rezoning and conditional use permit is a 
little over 5 acres in size and currently zoned C-1.  The applicant came before the Planning and 
Zoning Board (PZB) to seek an interpretation of the C-1 and C-2 zoning to determine whether 
portable building sales may be permitted in either zoning category. The PZB determined that 
because C-2 allows for the outdoor display and sale of vehicles by conditional permit, the 
outdoor display of portable sheds was similar enough to at least allow them to consider an 
application for conditional use permit for the use if the property was zoned C-2. This 
interpretation did not constitute approval – just an opportunity for a conditional use permit to be 
heard.   
 

There are currently multiple uses on the property, including mini-storage and a marina parts 
and equipment dealership. The aerial above gives an idea of the current intensity of the 
development this location. 
 
Analysis 
 

We are addressing two different applications and while we are addressing them concurrently, 
it is necessary to address the rezoning first. If, after hearing the evidence presented, the Planning 
and Board determines that the rezoning is not appropriate, the conditional use permit is, by 
default, denied. There is also an added wrinkle to the conditional use permit approach to this 
matter – if approved by the PZB, the Town Council is going to be required to approve the 
interpretation that sheds might be allowed by conditional use permit before it can move forward. 
 

Should Parcel 33-11-26-0000-0120-0000 be rezoned from C-1 to C-2? 
 

The Commercial future land use designation does permit C-2 zoning. However, this does not 
mean that a C-2 zoning designation must be approved at this location. The PZB and the Town 
Council must determine that C-2 zoning designation is compatible with the surrounding land 
uses and can be supported by the infrastructure (water, sewer, road, stormwater). They must also 
determine that the uses that could result from the C-2 zoning would be compatible with the 
surrounding uses.  

 
C-2 will not result in any noticeable impacts to the infrastructure – at least not above and 

beyond what C-1 already allows. As a result, the key question is whether the uses allowed by C-
2 will be compatible with the surrounding land uses. This list of uses allowed by C-1 and C-2 are 
attached as an addendum to this report and these lists should be reviewed so that you can 
understand what uses could be allowed to ascertain the compatibility. 

 
In addition to understanding what C-2 will allow on the property, we must look at the 

surrounding area. The property is located at the north entry into the town on 3rd Avenue 
(CR309), and it is part of the core commercial corridor in the Town of Welaka.  There is also C-
2 zoning immediately south of this property and across 3rd Avenue to the west. Thus, C-2 uses 
are already allowed in much of the surrounding area. The property to the north is zoned C-1 



 
Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 5 

being used as multi-family. To the west is unincorporated, large lot residential with agriculture 
zoning that is located across Bryant Ave. This use does not have access from Bryant and is 
sufficiently buffered from these properties to the east.  

 
The only potential concerns would be related to the residential uses at the southeast corner of 

the property. However, if the property owner maintains the existing vegetative buffer this should 
not present a real impact to those properties. That said, any proposed changes to the use or 
facilities would require PZB approval and a demonstration that there is adequate protection, 
separation and buffering for nearby properties (Ordinance 83-02 Art VIII, pg. 31).  
 

Based on the forgoing, it appears that the C-2 zoning at this location would be consistent 
with the Town of Welaka Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the surrounding land uses. 

 
Does application submittal for approval of the display and sale portable storage 
buildings at this location meet the criteria for approval of the requested conditional 
use permit?   
 

 The only guidance provided in the Town’s land develop regulations for reviewing 
conditional use permits is found in the C-2 zoning provisions quoted in the addendum to this 
report: 
 

When, after review of an application and plan appurtenant thereto, the Planning and 
Zoning Commission finds as a fact that the following proposed use or uses are consistent 
with the general zoning and other appurtenant municipal ordinances and with the public 
interest, the Planning and Zoning Commission is hereby authorized to approve special 
permits for the following uses as permitted uses-in the C-2 District…. 
 

If the PZB maintains that the display and sale of storage buildings is similar enough to the 
display and sale of vehicles to consider this request for a conditional use permit, then to approve 
the proposed use, the PZB also find that, as proposed by the applicant, it is consistent with the 
general zoning and related ordinances; and that it serves the public interest (or at least does not 
go against the public interest). The general zoning requirements and the requirements of other 
ordinances, at a minimum, require a proposed land use to be consistent with the comprehensive 
plan, compatible with the surrounding land use and able to meet the basic zoning requirements 
for C-2. 
 

The applicant has provided a site plan illustrating the proposed layout for displaying the 
sheds. As of the writing of this report, there were no dimensions provided and no detail for the 
landscape plan.  A new site plan showing dimensions and scale, as well as a description of the 
landscape plan must be provided prior to the hearing to make a final determination. The 
applicant has been advised and is planning to have this completed in time. 
 

It is my opinion and recommendation that the proposed display and sale of portable storage 
buildings will be consistent the general zoning for this area and the related ordinances, and it will 
not conflict with the public interest, if approved with the following conditions: 
 

1. The Town Council must approve the proposed rezoning to C-2. 



 
Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 6 

2. The Town Council must confirm that the display and sale of portable storage buildings is 
substantially like the sale of vehicles so that it may be considered for a conditional use permit.  

3. The number of sheds stored or displayed at any one time shall be limited to eight. 
4. The location of the sheds shall be as shown on the approved site plan. 
5. Sheds shall be delivered from the supplier/manufacturer directly to the customer and should not 

be delivered to the property except to replace one of the eight display sheds. 
6. There will be no ingress or egress to the subject property from Bryant Avenue. 
7. A 6 ft chain link fence shall be maintained along the perimeter of the property as shown in the 

site plan. 
8. No existing trees will be removed to accommodate the use and the property owner will maintain 

this existing, natural vegetated buffer along the east and southern boundaries, and as well as the 
3rd Avenue right of way. 

9. Failure to meet the conditions of approval shall be subject to code enforcement wherein the Code 
Enforcement Board may determine to revoke the conditional permit if the failure is significant 
enough, continues despite notice to correct, or repeated more than once. 

 
  



 
Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 7 

ADDENDUM 
 
 
C-1 General Commercial. 
 
Uses Permitted. Land uses and structures shall only be used for the following purposes: 

1. Single family dwelling, but not mobile homes. 
2. Multi-family residential uses conforming to the requirements of MR-1 zoning. 
3. Art Museums 
4. Bakeries where all goods are sold on the premises at retail. 
5. Drug Stores 
6. Electrical appliance sale and repair 
7. Florist shops and greenhouses for retail trade only. 
8. Funeral homes 
9. Grocery, fruit or vegetable stores. 
10. Hotels and motels 
11. Indoor theaters and auditoriums 
12. Laundromats and launderettes 
13. Meat markets and poultry stores if no slaughter or stripping involved. 
14. Municipal buildings, excluding garages, shops, jails and correctional facilities. 
15. Offices 
16. Photographers' or artists' studios. 
17. Professional offices 
18. Radio and television sales and services shops. 
19. Radio and televisions broadcasting studios 
20. Signs conforming to the requirements of the Town's sign Ordinance. 
21. Tailor and dressmaking shops. 
22. Telephone exchange buildings 
23. Temporary building incidental only to construction of a permitted use. 
24. Restaurants, except drive-in and fast food restaurants. 

 
Conditional Uses Permitted. When after review of an application and development plan pursuant thereto, 
the Planning and Zoning Commission finds as a fact that the proposed use is consistent with the General 
Development Plan for the Town of Welaka, the following uses may be permitted:   
 

1. Shopping Centers 
2. Banks 

 
 
  



 
Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 580 3rd Av P a g e  | 8 

USES PERMITTED 
Land and structures shall be used only for the following purposes: 
 

1. Athletic' Clubs and Health Studios. 
2. Self-service and coin operated car wash establishments where no gasoline or service is 

provided. 
3. Bowling Alleys 
4. Business, music, dance, or commercial schools. 
5. Dry cleaning plants only using automatic self-contained cleaning machines with a 

capacity of 40 pounds or less per load and using non-inflammable toxic dry-cleaning 
solvents. 

6. Pet shops or animal hospitals, when conducted wholly within the enclosed building, 
provided no boarding facilities are provided. 

7. Drive-in and fast-food restaurants. 
8. Retail sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off the premises. 
9. Any uses permitted in C-1 zone. 

 
CONDITIONAL USES PERMITTED IN C-2 
When, after review of an application and plan appurtenant thereto, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission finds as a fact that the following proposed use or uses are consistent with the 
general zoning and other appurtenant municipal ordinances and with the public interest, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission is hereby authorized to approve special permits for the 
following uses as permitted uses-in the C-2 District: 
 

1. Gasoline Service Stations. 
2. Automotive, new and used, sales and service. 
3. Drive-in Theaters. 
4. Automotive body, repair and paint shops. 
5. Sale of Alcoholic Beverages for consumption on the premises. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



AGENDA ITEM # 7.b.  

 

Zoning Case #: R2023-02 / CUP2023-02 

 

 

Andrew (AJ) Flateau, Outback Smoke Shack & Brewhouse 

 

Rezoning Application & Conditional Use Permit Packet 







































            Town of Welaka
             P.O. Box 1098
            Welaka, FL 32193
            (336) 467-9800

Receipt: 3559-38
Date:    11/8/2023 2:43:13 PM

ZONING FEES                      $72.08
   MICHELLE BOMBA
   413 ELM ST
   ZONING FEES
                           ------------
Total Paid:                      $72.08

Cash                             $72.10
                           ------------
Total Tendered:                  $72.10

Change Due:                      -$0.02







Town of Welaka 

400 4th Avenue 

Welaka, FL  32193 

(386) 467-9800 

 
 

 
*EXAMPLE OF LETTER MAILED OUT TO EVERYONE WITHIN 400 FEET OF PROPERTY 

 

October 25, 2023 

 

<Name> 

<Street Address> 

<City, State, Zip> 

 

 

RE: Notice of Zoning Board Hearing 

 

 

Hello, 

 

The Town of Welaka Zoning Board will hold a hearing on November 16, 2023, at 6:00 PM, to 

hear Case # R2023-02/CUP2023-02, concerning an application to rezone the property located at 

413 Elm Street, Welaka, Florida (Parcel # 41-12-26-9200-0310-0030) from C-1 to C-2, and a 

companion application for Conditional Use Permit to allow for the sale of  beer and wine for on 

premise consumption at the same location.   

 

These applications will be considered concurrently on November 16, 2023, starting at 6:00 pm, 

or as soon thereafter as it may be heard, in the Town Council Meeting Room at Welaka Town 

Hall, located at 400 4th Avenue, Welaka, Florida. 

 

All interested persons are invited to attend this meeting.  Any person wishing to appeal any 

decision made with respect to any matter considered at this meeting will need a record of the 

proceedings and for such purpose may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings 

is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based 

(Florida Statutes §286.105). 

 

Persons with disabilities requiring accommodation to participate in this meeting should contact 

Town Hall at (386) 467-9800 or by writing to 400 4th Avenue, Welaka, Florida 32193 at least 24 

hours in advance to request accommodation. 

 

 

Very Best Regards, 

 

 

 

 

Meghan E. Allmon  

Town Clerk 

TownClerk@welaka-fl.gov  



The Law Offices of Patrick J Kennedy, PA 
PO Box 298  

Welaka, Florida 32193 
patrickjkennedypa@gmail.com 

 

Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 1 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
To: Welaka Zoning Board 
 
From: Patrick Kennedy 
 
Date: November 6, 2023 
 
RE:  Proposed Rezoning and Conditional Use Permit for 413 Elm St 
 
The Property:   Parcel No.:  41-12-26-9200-0310-0030 
     41-12-26-9200-0310-0020 

911 Address: 413 Elm St, Welaka, Florida 
 
Acreage:   0.46 Acres 
 
Location Map: 
 

  
 
The Parties:  Owner – Michelle Bomba 
  Agent – AJ Flateau 
 
The Request: 
Rezone the Property from its current zoning of C-1 to C-2 and a companion request for a 
conditional use permit for the express purpose of being able to sell beer and wine for on premise 
consumption in connection with the current use as a barbeque restaurant. 

mailto:patrickjkennedypa@gmail.com


Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 2 

 
Attachments: 
Rezoning Application and Conditional Use Permit Application  
Warranty Deed showing legal description of the property and verifying ownership. 
 
Surrounding Land Uses and Zoning: 
 
Direction Land Use Zoning Future Land Use 
North Government 

Offices/Recreation/residential 
P-1/C-1 Public Facilities/Commercial 

East Residential C-1 Commercial 
South Commercial  SR-1 Commercial 
West Medical Office C-1 Commercial 

 
Map Series: 
 
Aerial 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 3 

Future Land Use Map 
 

  
 
Current Zoning: C-1  
    

 
 
 
 
 



Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 4 

 
Proposed Zoning: C-2 
 

 
 
 
 
Background 
 

The property under consideration for the proposed rezoning and conditional use permit is 
currently comprised of two parcels, each 0.23 acres in size. Both are currently zoned C-1, which 
allows for restaurants and the front parcel has a history of being used as a restaurant. However, 
C-1 does not allow for the consumption of alcohol products on premise; this requires a C-2 
zoning and a conditional use permit. (See Ordinance 90-11) 

 
There are currently two occupants in the building shown in the application submittals – a 

coffee shop/roastery in the western half of the building and a BBQ restaurant in the eastern half. 
It is the operator of the BBQ restaurant operation that desires to add the sale of beer and wine to 
the operation. For this to occur, the Town Council must approve the application to rezone the 
property and the Planning and Zoning Board (PZB) must approve the conditional use permit. 
 
Analysis 
 

Technically, we are addressing two different applications, and while we are addressing them 
concurrently, it is necessary to address the rezoning first. If, after hearing the evidence presented, 
the PZB determines that the rezoning is not appropriate, the conditional use permit is, by default, 
denied. 
 



Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 5 

Should Parcels 41-12-26-9200-0310-0030 and 41-12-26-9200-0310-0020 be rezoned 
from C-1 to C-2? 
 

It is not difficult to conclude that the Commercial future land use designation does permit C-
2 zoning. However, this does not mean that a C-2 zoning designation must be approved at this 
location. The PZB and then the Town Council must determine that C-2 zoning designation is 
compatible with the surrounding land uses and can be supported by the infrastructure (water, 
sewer, road, stormwater). Without belaboring a lengthy analysis, this section of CR308 is a part 
of the core commercial corridor in the Town of Welaka. The additional uses that may allowed by 
the proposed C-2 will not result in any noticeable impacts to the infrastructure – at least not 
above and beyond what C-1 already allows.  As a result, primary question for this case is - will 
uses allowed by C-2 be compatible with the surrounding land uses. 

 
This list of uses allowed by C-1 and C-2 are attached as an addendum to this report. The lists 

for each zoning district should be reviewed to understand what uses are allowed now and what 
will be allowed if rezoned to C-2.  Several of the allowed uses under C-2 would not be allowed 
to develop at this location simply because of the size and configuration of the property. For 
example, a bowling alley or a drive through restaurant are highly unlikely given the size and 
shape of the property.   

 
Perhaps the most concerning uses that might be allowed if the property is rezoned to C-2 are 

the conditional uses. However, the potential compatibility issues are precisely why these uses 
require a conditional use permit before they can be established, and it is not automatic that they 
would be approved.  

 
Of course, a compatibility analysis requires observation of the surrounding uses as well as 

the proposed uses. In this case, the surrounding land uses abutting this property and within one 
block include auto detailing and repair, metal roofing supply, gas station, medical clinic, coffee 
shop, town hall, town park and some residential. And while the residential might normally cause 
some pause, these residential properties along Elm St are zoned commercial (C-1). The Town of 
Welaka has a somewhat unique approach to its commercial zoning districts, in that both C-1 and 
C-2 allow for single family residential uses. 

 
Based on the forgoing, it appears that the C-2 zoning at this location would be consistent 

with the Town of Welaka Comprehensive Plan and compatible with the surrounding land uses. 
 
Does the proposed sale of alcohol for on premise consumption meet the criteria 
necessary for approve the conditional use permit application?   
 

The only guidance provided in the Town’s land develop regulations for reviewing 
conditional use permits is found in the C-2 zoning provisions quoted in the addendum to this 
report: 
 

When, after review of an application and plan appurtenant thereto, the Planning and 
Zoning Commission finds as a fact that the following proposed use or uses are consistent 
with the general zoning and other appurtenant municipal ordinances and with the public 



Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 6 

interest, the Planning and Zoning Commission is hereby authorized to approve special 
permits for the following uses as permitted uses-in the C-2 District…. 
 

The general zoning requirements and the requirements of other ordinances, at a minimum, 
require a proposed land use to be consistent with the comprehensive plan, compatible with the 
surrounding land use and able to meet the basic zoning requirements for C-2. If the PZB has 
concerns that the use will not meet this test as proposed, it might consider whether certain 
conditions would address those concerns (i.e., buffering, landscaping, limited hours of operation, 
noise controls, etc.). Thus, if the PZB finds that the sale of alcoholic beverages for onsite 
consumption is consistent with the general zoning and related ordinances, which means finding 
the proposed use to be consistent with the comprehensive plan, compatible with the surrounding 
properties and serving the public interest (or at least does not go against the public interest), then 
the PZB should approve the proposed use.  
 

It is my opinion and recommendation that the proposed use for onsite consumption of alcohol 
will be consistent the general zoning for this area and the related ordinances, and it will not 
conflict with the public interest if approved with the following conditions: 
 

1. The Town Council must approve the proposed rezoning to C-2. 
2. The permit is limited to the sale of malt beverages and wine-based beverages as currently defined 

by a 2COP license from the Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco. 
3. The proposed use for the sale and consumption of beer and wine is limited to the interior of the 

existing building. Any expansion of the use either by expanding the existing structure or 
providing outside seating for customers shall require a new application for a conditional use 
permit to expand the use. (The biggest concerns with expansion is parking and stormwater 
management.) 

4. The PZB should set the permissible hours of operation. Staff would recommend that the use not 
be open to the public any earlier than 11 am so that it does not create a parking problem with the 
coffee shop already operating at this location (which is only open in the morning). I would 
suggest a 10 pm closing for patrons Sunday – Thursday and no later than 11 pm on Friday – 
Saturday and holiday weekends. 

5. The two parcels that make up the property under consideration must be combined into one parcel 
prior to establishing the use. The conditional use permit does not represent a separate permission 
for each parcel. 

6. Failure to meet the conditions of approval shall be subject to code enforcement wherein the Code 
Enforcement Board may determine to revoke the conditional permit if the failure is significant 
enough, continues despite notice to correct, or repeated more than once. 
 

 
 
  



Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 7 

ADDENDUM 
 
 
C-1 General Commercial. 
 
Uses Permitted. Land uses and structures shall only be used for the following purposes: 

1. Single family dwelling, but not mobile homes. 
2. Multi-family residential uses conforming to the requirements of MR-1 zoning. 
3. Art Museums 
4. Bakeries where all goods are sold on the premises at retail. 
5. Drug Stores 
6. Electrical appliance sale and repair 
7. Florist shops and greenhouses for retail trade only. 
8. Funeral homes 
9. Grocery, fruit or vegetable stores. 
10. Hotels and motels 
11. Indoor theaters and auditoriums 
12. Laundromats and launderettes 
13. Meat markets and poultry stores if no slaughter or stripping involved. 
14. Municipal buildings, excluding garages, shops, jails and correctional facilities. 
15. Offices 
16. Photographers' or artists' studios. 
17. Professional offices 
18. Radio and television sales and services shops. 
19. Radio and televisions broadcasting studios 
20. Signs conforming to the requirements of the Town's sign Ordinance. 
21. Tailor and dressmaking shops. 
22. Telephone exchange buildings 
23. Temporary building incidental only to construction of a permitted use. 
24. Restaurants, except drive-in and fast food restaurants. 

 
Conditional Uses Permitted. When after review of an application and development plan pursuant thereto, 
the Planning and Zoning Commission finds as a fact that the proposed use is consistent with the General 
Development Plan for the Town of Welaka, the following uses may be permitted:   
 

1. Shopping Centers 
2. Banks 

 
 
  



Report for Zoning Board - Rezoning and CUP 413 Elm  P a g e  | 8 

USES PERMITTED 
Land and structures shall be used only for the following purposes: 
 

1. Athletic' Clubs and Health Studios. 
2. Self-service and coin operated car wash establishments where no gasoline or service is 

provided. 
3. Bowling Alleys 
4. Business, music, dance, or commercial schools. 
5. Dry cleaning plants only using automatic self-contained cleaning machines with a 

capacity of 40 pounds or less per load and using non-inflammable toxic dry-cleaning 
solvents. 

6. Pet shops or animal hospitals when conducted wholly within the enclosed building, 
provided no boarding facilities are provided. 

7. Drive-in and fast-food restaurants. 
8. Retail sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off the premises. 
9. Any uses permitted in C-1 zone. 

 
CONDITIONAL USES PERMITTED IN C-2 
When, after review of an application and plan appurtenant thereto, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission finds as a fact that the following proposed use or uses are consistent with the 
general zoning and other appurtenant municipal ordinances and with the public interest, the 
Planning and Zoning Commission is hereby authorized to approve special permits for the 
following uses as permitted uses-in the C-2 District: 
 

1. Gasoline Service Stations. 
2. Automotive, new and used, sales and service. 
3. Drive-in Theaters. 
4. Automotive body, repair and paint shops. 
5. Sale of Alcoholic Beverages for consumption on the premises. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



AGENDA ITEM # 7.c.  

 

David Johnson, Shrimp R Us 

 

New Tiki Bar Architectural Review 








	Shrimps R Us Roofover Plans.pdf
	Shrimps R Us Roofover D1 (1)
	Shrimps R Us Roofover D2 (1)
	Shrimps R Us Roofover D3 (1)




